
 

 

CITY OF PONTIAC 

47450 Woodward Avenue, Pontiac, MI 48342 | 248-758-2800 | planning@pontiac.mi.us 

Mayor Tim Greimel 

  

 

PONTIAC HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 
                    December 13, 2023, 6:30 pm 

    CITY HALL – 2nd FLOOR – COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

47450 WOODWARD AVENUE – PONTIAC, MICHIGAN 

 
Agenda 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 
 

2. ROLL CALL: 
 

3. OFFICIAL COMMUNICATIONS: 
 

4. MINUTES FROM REVIEW: November 8, 2023 
 

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 
 

6. OLD BUSINESS: 
 
A. Application #: HDC 23-046 

Applicant:  Mary L. Klein 
Address:  141 Chippewa Road 
Request:  Replace 22 windows with grills. 
 

B. Application#: HDC 23-048 
Applicant:  Ronita Coleman – Coleman Allen LLC 
Address:  111 Oneida Road 
Request:  Remove 361 metal casement windows and replace them with 361 black vinyl   
   casement windows with grills. 
 

C. Application#: HDC 23-044 
Applicant:  Loren Guzek – 46 Saginaw LLC 
Address:  46 North Saginaw Road 
Request:  Add new window openings for window and façade enhancements. 

 
 
 
 
 

mailto:planning@pontiac.mi.us


7. NEW BUSINESS 
 

D. Application#: HDC 23-055 
Applicant:  Michael Wilhelm 
Address:  225 Chippewa Road 
Request:  Remove cedar shingles from the rear dormer and apply vinyl faux cedar shingles. 
 

8. PUBLIC COMMENT: 
 

9. STAFF COMMUNICATION 
A.   Planning Initiatives 
B.   Next Meeting: January 17, 2024 

 
 
  

 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MI 
 

HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION MINUTES 
 

Saturday, November 8, 2023 – 6pm 
 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER: (9:07) 

 
II. ATTENDANCE 

Present: Chair Rick David, Vice Chair Regina Campbell, Fernando Bales, Jen Burk, Jim Allen, 
Rachael Clark 
 
Staff Members     Mark Yandrick – Planning Manager / Paul Harang – Planner II 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Burk to start the meeting. It was seconded by 
Commissioner Clark. 
 

III. OFFICIIAL COMMUNICAITONS 
Planner Harang indicated that there were no new communications.  
 
Minutes.  Commissioner Campbell requested to amend the October minutes with the 
following amendments to request for collaboration with the City council members whose 
districts are located within historic districts, Commissioner Clark had a request to amend the 
October notes to include amendments for fiberglass to fibrex for case HDC 23-041, 
indicating that the current windows are vinyl not fiberglass in the house and Commissioner 
Burk had a request to change East Iroquois for HDC 23-041.  
 
Motion to correct the minutes made by Commissioner Burk and seconded by 
Commissioner Clark. 
 
Vote 
 
Yes 6 
No 0 
 
Motion to add the calendar year 2024 to the agenda provided by approved by 
Commissioner Campbell and seconded by Commissioner Allen.   
 
Vote 
 
Yes 6 
No 0 

 
 



IV. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 

Case:  HDC 23-052 
Applicant  Lisa Roger Vogal  
Adress  416 West Iroquois 
Request Remove and replace 3 dwelling facades with new cedar shingles.   

Remove and replace all garage facades with shingles and add PVC at the 
bottom of the garage walls and on the front door trim.  

 
Planner Harang provided the background of the case to remove and install new cedar shakes on the 3 
facades of the dwelling and all garage facades, add PVC on the bottom of the garage and front door 
trim.  
 
The applicant provided a presentation to the Commission on the dwelling and the garage alterations.  
The applicant indicated that the PVC trim on the front door has already been completed without 
Commission review and approval. 
 
Commission Allen asked the applicant if he considered Hardy Board for the bottom of the garage walls.  
The applicant indicated that per his contactor Hardy Board would not be appropriate for the bottom of 
the garage walls.   
 
Commissioner Clark addressed the thickness of the PVC board and how the new cedar shakes would 
look sitting on or above the PVC board on the garage wall.   The applicant indicated that the cedar 
shakes will overlap it. Commissioner Clark asked if the cedar shakes would experience any moisture 
issues if they were added to the PVC trim but low enough to be exposed to ground moisture.  
 
Commissioner Bales stated that he does not have an issue with the PVC on the garage walls as long as it 
is painted or textured. The commissioner does not have an issue with the PVC trim on the front door.  
 
Commissioner Allen asked if the PVC trim on the garage would be covered by the cedar shakes.  The 
Commissioner indicated that using the cedar shakes with the PVC is not a good idea.  He stated Hardy 
Board would be a better material than PVC and it would be watertight over PVC.  Hardy Board can be 
laid on or near the ground and be painted.  
 
Resident at 59 Miami Sue Sinclair raised the question that she supports the new cedar shakes and that 
the Hardy Board will be a good fixture on the house.  
 
The resident at 219 Cherokee Michael Klink stated that he has used PVC and Hardy Board on houses and 
states that PVC is a bad option and Hardy Board is a better choice.  
 
Commissioner Burk indicated that the Commission should add and discuss the gutters to the meeting.      
 
Commissioner Bales asked about the color of the gutters and stated what material is being requested for 
the bottom material of the garage PVC or Hardy Board.  
 
Commissioner Allen stated that the garage should have a 2-inch base covered by shingles at the bottom 
of the garage with Hardy Board instead of PVC.  



 
Commissioner Campbell provided a motion to replace the shingles on the house and garage due to 
deterioration to match the color and texture of the old shingles add a 2-inch reveal board at the bottom 
of the garage and add the gutters to the scope.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Bales to amend Commissioner Campbell's motion to approve 
the new shingles and use Hardy Board on the garage with the 2-inch reveal at the bottom of the 
garage and PVC is approved on the front door trim.  Commissioner Campbell seconded the motion.  
 
Commissioner David opens the discussion on the front door trim.  Commissioner Allen stated several 
reasons why the applicants should not use PVC.  He recommends wood or Hardy Board.  
 
Commissioner Bales indicated the LP might be a better material to ask the contractor about other 
materials. 
 
Commissioner Burk posed a question on the material of the trim on the half-dome front door to the 
applicant. 
 
Commissioner David asked the applicant if the front door trim had already been replaced.  The applicant 
stated yes, the trim has been replaced and the trim has been replaced several times before.  
 
A Motion was provided by Commissioner Allen to support the shingles on the garage & house, 
support the PVC trim on the front door and support Hardy Board or wood at the base of the garage 
and seconded by Commissioner Bales. 
 
Vote 
 
Yes 6 
No 0 
 
 
Motion by Commissioner Clark to approve gutters as indicated by the applicant and Seconded by 
Commissioner Allen.  
 
Vote 
 
Yes 6 
No  0 
 

Case:  HDC 23-046 
Applicant  Mary L. Kline  
Address  141 Chippewa 
Request Remove 22 wood windows on the house with vinyl windows.  

 
Planner Harang provided the background of the request. The applicant is requesting approval to add 
new vinyl windows to the dwelling.  
 



The applicant stated that he was given a permit and then requested to add to the permit for new 
windows replacement.  This second permit was rescinded by the City. The applicant did not understand 
why the city took back the permit.  The applicant then provided details on the window request and 
general location for proposed and existing windows.  
 
Resident Sue Sinclair stated that the house cladding is wood, and the wood windows are 6 over one.  
 
Motion made by Commissioner Allen to deny the request but feels that the case needs to be tabled.  
 
Commissioner Burk asked about the number of windows that have been replaced.  
 
The Planning Manager asks how many more windows will need to be replaced within the entire house.  
The applicant indicated that 22 windows are needed to complete the project.  
 
Commissioner Allen stated that the commission needed more information on this project and to find an 
alternative decision and material.  
 
Motion made by Commissioner Campbell to postpone the application to tour the site. It was seconded 
by Bales.  
 
Planner Yandrick asks the commission to provide more information on a direction for this case.  
 
Commissioner Bales wants to see the other facades of the house and understand why the permit was 
provided in error.  
 
Commissioner Burk asked a question if the applicant purchased more windows for the house. 
 
A motion by Commissioner Campbell to Postpone for additional information. It was seconded by 
Commissioner Bales. 
 
Staff Yandrick indicated that staff and applicants need more direction.   
 
Commissioner Bales wants to see pictures of all the sides of the house under consideration and 
understand why the permit was issued in error. 
 
Vote 
 
YES  6 
NO  0 
 

 
 
 
Case:  HDC 23-048 
Applicant  Regina Colemen  
Address  111 Oneida 
Request Remove 361 metal casement windows and install 361 vinyl windows.  

 



Planner Harang provided the background of the applicant's request and indicated that there have been 
several violations issued at the site.  
 
The applicant provided background information regarding the building and request.  The building is 
owned by Oakland County and has been vacant since 2006. The applicant has funding for the project 
with grants and other resources.  
 
Commissioner Clark asked a question about the color of the windows and if the vinyl windows would 
warp in the heat and cold.  The applicant indicated that the windows could sustain the elements. The 
commissioner is concerned about the narrowing of the windows in some of the building's window 
openings and if the new windows will be the same size in glass surface.  The applicant stated that the 
frame would be a little bigger or a couple of inches larger.  
 
Commissioner Burk stated to the applicant that as she recalls the proposal will include 45 units with 16 
garages.  The commissioner asked a question about parking.  The applicant provided input on the plan 
for resident parking on and off-site. And provided information regarding persons living within the 
structure and the state of the broken windows in the structure.  
 
The Planning Manager indicated that this request does not require a site plan and parking will be 
worked on at another time with the Planning Department.  
 
Commissioner Burk asked why the first 50 feet of the rear of the building is classified as a primary 
façade.   
 
The planning staff indicated that the first 50 feet of the rear of the building fronts Seminole Street and is 
a primary elevation while the remainder of the rear of the building fronts a common lot line with the 
adjacent parcel which is categorized as the non-primary portion of the façade.   
 
The applicant indicated that she has been in touch with other neighbors on potential parking lots for the 
building residents.  
 
Resident Sue Sinclair 56 Miami addressed the body for comments and questions. She indicated that the 
commission should understand the condition of the existing windows. She indicated that the owner of 
the building can obtain historic tax credits. She feels parking is critical and the applicant should talk with 
the hospital and church. 
 
Michaal klink 219 Cherokee resident.  Provided information on window builders that work in Pontiac 
and shared this with the commission.  
 
The applicant indicated that she did look at historic tax credits.  
 
Commissioner Bales states this is an opportunity for the neighborhood and the proposed development 
sets the tone for any future projects in the city.   He states there is not enough information for him to 
decide.  He would like elevations and plans for the case. States that replacement windows narrow the 
interior window openings.  
 
Commissioner David asked Commissioner Bales if this case should be postponed.  
 



Commissioner Allen states the building is a diamond in the rough and the expense to fix the building 
should not be an issue.  He states the commission needs more documentation to decide.  
 
Commissioner Clark states the Michigan Central Terminal in Detroit has provided new metal windows in 
the building and it looks great.  She would like to see some quotes from the applicant regarding the 
window companies they have obtained quotes from.  She states that several contractors build metal 
windows. And stated that any new Vinyl window will narrow the window opening.  
 
Commissioner David asked how a postponement would impact the applicant's timeline.  
 
The applicant stated that they would prefer to use vinyl windows based on the cost of new metal 
windows.  
 
The applicant indicated that they have a letter of intent with Oakland County.  
 
Planning Manager Yandrick posted a question to have a meeting with the applicant and commission at 
the subject site soon.  
 
Commissioner David supported the idea of a tour/ meeting. 
 
Commissioner Burk states that she is frustrated with the county because it has not invested any money 
into the building. She supports the tour and wants to see the building restored correctly.  
 
The motion was made by Commissioner Allen to Postpone the meeting and provide more information 
on the window material and would prefer new metal casement windows within the building.  
 
Commissioner Burk is not comfortable with the motion and feels that the commission needs to get more 
information on the case to decide.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Burk to postpone the hearing to give more time to the applicant 
to research metal window replacement options and provide alternative window replacement 
examples Commissioner Allen seconds the motion.  
 
Commissioner Bales requests to amend the motion to postpone and requires the applicant to provide 
elevations, renderings, and other information for the next meeting. So that the commission can see 
what the building looks like with the proposed windows.  
 
The Planning Manager recommends not to provide requests like elevations, and renderings at this time.  
 
Votes 
 
Yes 6 
No 0 
 
The Planning Manager states that the applicant for 46 Saginaw cannot attend the meeting and asked the 
commission if they want to hear the case. Commissions stated to table the meeting.  
 



Motion provided to table case.  Commissioner Clark provided the motion and Commissioner Burk 
seconded the motion.  
 
Vote 
 
Yes 6 
No 0  
 
Communication 
Planner Harang stated the only communication will be the next meeting date of December 13th.  
 
Planner Yandrick indicated that training will be coming.  Commissioner Burk stated she would like to get 
training on materials, building elements, and other architectural terms.  
 
Commissioner Campbell stated that consistency is important to this board.  Planner Harang stated that 
the HDC has guidelines for windows, roofing, and siding.  He will provide a copy to each commissioner to 
assist with the consistency of the Commission.  
 
Adjournment  
 
Motion made by Commissioner Campbell and seconded by Commissioner Allen.  
 
Vote  
 
Yes 6 
No 0 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Paul Harang, Planner II 
Community Development Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF PONTIAC, MI 
HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION MINUTES 

Saturday, December 2, 2023 – 9am 
 

143 Oneida Road – Welcome Missionary Baptist Church 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER: (9:07) 
 

II. ATTENDANCE 
Present: Chair Rick David, Regina Campbell, Fernando Bales, Jen Burk, Jim Allen, Rachael 
Clark 
 
Staff Members      Mark Yandrick – Planning Manager  

Paul Harang – Planner II 
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Burk to start the meeting it was seconded by 
Commissioner Bales.   Unanimously approved. 

 
III. OFFICIAL COMMUNICAITONS 

Planning Manager Yandrick welcomed members to the meeting and indicated no new 
updates. 
 

IV. OLD BUSINESS 
Planning Manager Yandrick explained why the special meeting was initiated for the HDC to 
tour the building to discuss the condition of the windows within the building and provide 
time for the applicant to provide any new updates on the proposed window and garage 
door addition to the building.  
 
Applicant Ronita Colemen updated the Commission on the new metal window product to be 
proposed for the building instead of the vinyl windows requested at the November 8th 
meeting.  The applicant stated the vinyl window request is being withdrawn for the new 
metal window product with the amendment to the HDC application for new metal black 
opaque garage doors to be installed at the rear of the building.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Burk to suspend the meeting it was seconded by 
Commissioner Allen at 9:27am. 
 
The applicant conducted two (2) separate tours of the subject site with three (3) 
Commissioners and staff for each tour.  
 
The meeting resumed at the Welcome Missionary Baptist Church after the tour to discuss 
the tour findings and review the information on the new windows and garage doors at 9:53 
am.  The applicant provided two examples of the new metal windows and pictures of the 
proposed metal garage doors.  
 



There was a general discussion about the windows, garage door replacement and the 
changes proposed by the applicant since the last meeting. 
 
Commissioner Bales posed a question regarding how the new windows would fit within the 
existing size of the window openings.  Stated he would like more information on the 
windows relative to their look and size. The Commissioner is concerned about the increase 
in width of the new windows in the existing window openings and wants to understand if 
the dome windows in the façade will be emulated with the new window product.  
 
Commissioner Allen requested the applicant research wood garage doors instead of the 
proposed metal garage doors.  
 
Commissioner Campbell requested the applicant provide color samples for the proposed 
exterior cladding of the outside of the windows at the next HDC meeting.  
 
A motion was made by Commissioner Burk to adjourn the meeting and Commissioner 
Clark seconded the Motion.  Unanimously approved. 
  

V. ADJOURNMENT  (10:28am) 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Paul Harang, Planner II 
Community Development Department 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



1 

 

  

 
Application: HDC 23-046        141 Chippewa Road 

 

 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The applicant, Mary Klien, is requesting to replace 22 windows on the south, east and west elevations. The applicant 

amended the application to add the replacement of wood windows on the west/ front façade with new wood windows; 

on the south and east facades, the applicant will be replacing wood windows with vinyl windows.  This case was tabled 

from the November 8th hearing for further commission/ staff research, which was completed.   

Based on the Pontiac window replacement guidelines, staff supports the request with conditions.   

  

OVERVIEW/ PROPOSAL 

The applicant is proposing to replace 22 windows within the structure. Staff approved the replacement of 4 wood 

windows with vinyl windows in June of 2023 along the north elevation. A second permit was approved in error but 

rescinded. This error occurred because an existing permit can be modified by the Building Department but 

unfortunately, the Planning Department was not notified by the Building Department for review. So presently, this 

application is seeking approval to replace the remainder of the wood windows on the west and south elevations with 

Exhibit A - Location Map 

HDC MEETING:  12/13/23 

HISTORIC DISTRICT:  Seminole Hills Historic District 

PROPERTY OWNER:  Mary L. Klein 

SCOPE:    22 Replacement Windows 

 



2 

 

vinyl windows, to match the north elevation, and replace the wood windows along the east façade with new wood 

double-hung windows to match the original windows on this façade. All proposed windows will have grills grouped in a 

six-over-six pattern.  

The proposed windows are from The Home Depot and will consist of vinyl windows on the non-primary facades and 

wood windows on the primary facade.  

UPDATE (12/7/2023) 

This case was initially heard at the November 8, 2023 HDC meeting, but the HDC tabled the item so staff could meet 

with the applicant about alternatives for the proposed windows.  The site visit and discussion with the applicant was 

completed, along with HDC Chair Rick David.  The applicant has modified the submission for wood windows along the 

front façade of Chippewa Drive.  

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

141 Chippewa was constructed in 1929.  It is a two-story period revival with a gable roof and return cornices.  There are 

shed dormers on each side and a gabled enclosed entry arched door.  The siding is wood.  The existing windows on the 

front façade appear to be single-hung, six -over-one, and made of wood.  A survey of Seminole Hills conducted in 1987 

shows the windows had canopies (Exhibit B).   Four windows along the side of the home were replaced with vinyl 

windows in 2023.  

 

Exhibit B - Photograph From 1987 Survey (Pontiac Survey of Buildings) 



3 

 

 

STAFF OBSERVATIONS AND RESEARCH 

• The Seminole Hills Historic District was established in 1983. 

• The subject property is located on Chippewa Rd just south of Menominee Rd.   

• The existing windows appear to be historically accurate, except for a few replacement windows installed on the 
north, east, west, and south elevations.  

 

STANDARDS OF APPROVAL 

Secretary of the Interior Standards 

The Secretary of the Interior Standards for the treatment of Historic Properties provides 10 standards for the 

rehabilitation of historic properties. The relevant standard which applies to this request is #2 and #6.  

Standard #2 

“The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved.  The removal of historic materials or alteration of 

features and spaces that characterize a property shall be avoided.” 

Standard #6 

“Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of deterioration requires the 

replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual 

qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, 

physical, or pictorial evidence”.   

Pontiac Historic District Guidelines 

The City of Pontiac, Historic District Commission window replacement review guidelines state: 

1. “Avoid, where possible, the removal or alteration of any historic building materials”. 
2. “Where reasonably possible, will repair rather than replace deteriorated architectural features and where 

replacement is necessary, whether such replacement is similar in composition and texture and reasonably 
accurate duplication of the architectural feature requires repair over replacement and replacement materials 
must match composition, texture and detail of original where replacement windows with flat profiles does not 
meet this criteria”. 

3. “For the Historic District Commission to approve window replacement, the applicant must provide clear and 
irrefutable evidence that the windows are in such disrepair that they cannot be repaired”. 

4. “Primary façade window treatment authorizes the approval of work on windows under the following conditions 
in order of desirability on all elevations facing street frontages”: 

a. “Repair of existing windows” 
b. “Replace with like”: 

i. “Use of the same materials” 
ii. “Matching existing configuration.”  

iii. “Matching of color.” 
iv. “Matching of trim detailing.” 

5. “Non-primary elevation treatment allowances – The Historic District Commission desires these primary façade-
quality windows on all facades, but within residential districts, the Historic District Commission will accept 
replacement windows to a lower design standard than those on the primary façade in order of desirability for 
non-primary façades”. 

a. “Repair existing windows” 



4 

 

b. “Replacement with like” 
i. “Use of same materials.” 

ii. “Matching existing configuration.” 
iii. “Matching of color.” 
iv. “Matching trim details.” 

c. “Replacement with modern materials with true divided lites (panes) and muntins that match the existing 
profiles”. 

d. “Replacement with new windows of modern materials and exterior divider grilles to match existing 
window profile”. 

e. “Standard replacement windows with either interior divider grilles or no divider grilles (least desirable – 
for non-primary facades only)”. 

 

 

Figure C – primary facade 

ANALYSIS 

This request for new windows would not be consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s standards for rehabilitation 

which advise against altering the historic materials and features of a property for the fact the new grill design does not 

match the existing grill design/pattern (wood and vinyl proposed windows) and the vinyl window texture does not mimic 

the original wood window texture.     

The City of Pontiac’s guidelines for replacing windows in a historic district state:  



5 

 

“avoid, where possible, the removal or alteration of any historic building materials,” and “where reasonably possible, 

repair rather than replace deteriorated architectural features.”  

“Where reasonably possible, will repair rather than replace deteriorated architectural features and where replacement is 

necessary, whether such replacement is similar in composition and texture and reasonably accurate duplication of the 

architectural feature requires repair over replacement and replacement materials must match composition, texture and 

detail of original where replacement windows with flat profiles does not meet this criteria”. 

 

 

 

 

Exhibit D – rear/ non-primary facade 

By these standards, the applicant’s request would not be consistent with the goals and policies of the City of Pontiac’s 

Historic Districts.   

However, based on the Pontiac Historic District Commission Window Replacement Guidelines, the commission may 

accept replacement windows to a lower design standard on non-primary elevation windows. The applicant is requesting 



6 

 

to replace vinyl windows on the south and east facades which are not primary facades.  The applicant has expressed a 

desire to comply with historic regulations but has cited the high cost of historically accurate windows as prohibitive.  

CONCLUSION 

Staff can support the new wood window installation on the primary façade if the applicant mimics the existing window 

grill pattern. Regarding the non-primary facades, the commission can approve the vinyl windows based on the order of 

desirability for non-primary façade windows.  

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the proposal with the following conditions: 

1. The primary façade window grill pattern shall mimic the original window grill pattern.  
2. Staff recommend approval of the replacement of vinyl windows on the non-primary façades of the dwelling 

based on the Commission's order of desirability for non-primary façade windows.    
  

 

Exhibit E – side/ non-primary facade 



7 

 

 

 

SAMPLE MOTION 

  SAMPLE MOTION TO APPROVE: 

I move to recommend APPROVAL of the removal of original wood windows on the west and south facades with vinyl 
windows and on the west façade with new wood windows with the following conditions.  
 

1. The primary façade window grill pattern shall mimic the original window grill pattern.  
2. Staff recommend approval of the replacement of vinyl windows on the non-primary façades of the dwelling 

based on the Commission's order of desirability for non-primary façade windows.    
 

SAMPLE MOTION TO DENY: 

I move to DENY the removal of original windows with replacement windows with grills for the following reason(s):  
______________ 
 

SAMPLE MOTION TO TABLE: 

I move to TABLE the removal of original windows with replacement windows with grills for the following  
reason(s):  ______________ 
 

 

 

 



















1 

 

  

 
 
 

Application HDC: HDC 23-048        111 Oneida Road 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The applicant, Ronita Coleman, is amending the original request submitted to the Commission on November 8, 2023. 

The new request is to remove all metal casement windows within the building and replace them with new metal 

casement windows.  Per the Pontiac Historic District Commission window replacement guidelines, this request is 

consistent with the document's intent.   

Staff recommends APPROVAL for replacing all windows within the building (north, south, east, and west facades) with 

new metal casement windows with grills that mimic the historic windows and installing new metal garage doors at the 

rear of the building.  

 

Exhibit A - location map 

HDC MEETING DATE:  12-13-2023 

HISTORIC DISTRICT:   Seminole Hills Historic District 

PROPERTY OWNER:   Oakland County, Michigan (Applicant has option on property) 

SCOPE:  Replace 361 metal casement windows with 361 new metal (aluminum) casement 

windows and replace  16 garage door openings with black metal doors. 

Primary Facade 

Pri

ma

ry 

Fac

ade 



2 

 

UPDATES 

Based on the Historic District Commission meeting on November 8, 2023, the applicant is altering the request to utilize 

vinyl replacement windows in the structure. At the special commission meeting on December 2, 2023, the applicant 

requested to amend the original request to install new metal casement windows within the entire building and add new 

black metal garage doors within all the garage openings within the building.  

 

Exhibit B – Existing Primary Façade – Oneida Road and Algonquin 

PROPOSAL 

The applicant proposes to remove 361 vertical metal casement windows (north, south, east, and west facades) replace 

them with 361 metal casement windows and insert new metal garage doors within the row of garage opens at the rear/ 

west of the building. The proposed window grid pattern will mimic the grid pattern of the existing windows.  The 

applicant is not proposing any masonry replacement or repair at the site.  

 

Exhibit C – Proposed façade with new windows in the primary facade 



3 

 

While the applicant may consider changes to the brick and masonry repair and rehabilitation work to the building, that is 

not under consideration for this application at this time.  

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

111 Oneida Road (Casa del Rey Apartments) was constructed in 1928 by C.L. Groesbeck; the architect of record is Robert 

O. Derrick. This 4 1/2 story Mediterranean/Spanish revival building is characterized by a C-shaped inner court, flat and 

gable roof with tile and small pents, small towers, vigas at gabled parapets, and belfry shapes at parapets. The building is 

bookended with covered terraces Inlaid tile and other period decorations.  Windows in the structure are vertical, metal 

casement units.   

STAFF OBSERVATIONS AND RESEARCH 

• The Seminole Hills Historic District was established in 1983. 

• The subject property is located at the southeast intersection of Oneida Road and Algonquin Road.  

• Staff identified broken panes within several windows, missing windows in most of the ground floor window 
openings, and window openings boarded sporadically within the structure.  

• Staff also identified several areas of missing brick/ masonry work on the western terrace wall butteris area, at 
the upper portion of the castellated wall area of the courtyard, and missing terracotta roof tiles on the pilaster 
area of the western terrace.   

• City records show that in 2013 and 2015 complaints were filed for debris and the building was observed to be 
open to trespassing. 
 
 

 

Exhibit D - parcel map 



4 

 

 

Exhibit E- Primary façade – Algonquin Road 

 

STANDARDS OF APPROVAL 

Secretary of Interior Standards 

Per section 74-73 Design standards and guidelines of the City Code, the Commission shall follow the U.S. Secretary of the 

Interior standards for rehabilitation and guidelines for rehabilitation of historic buildings. And per the city of Pontiac 

Historic District Commission “Window Replacement Guidelines”. 

The Secretary of the Interior Standards for the treatment of Historic Properties provides 10 standards for the 

rehabilitation of historic properties. The relevant standard for this request is #2 & #6.  

Standard #2: 

“The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of historic materials or alteration of 

features and spaces that characterized a property shall be avoided”.  

 



5 

 

Standard #6 

“Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of deterioration requires the 

replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual 

qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, 

physical, or pictorial evidence.”. 

Pontiac Historic District guidelines 

The City of Pontiac, Historic District Commission window replacement review guidelines state: 

1. “Avoid, where possible, the removal or alteration of any historic building materials”. 
2. “Where reasonably possible, will repair rather than replace deteriorated architectural features and where 

replacement is necessary, whether such replacement is similar in composition and texture and reasonably 
accurate duplication of the architectural feature requires repair over replacement and replacement materials 
must match composition, texture and detail of original where replacement windows with flat profiles does not 
meet this criteria”. 

3. “For the Historic District Commission to approve window replacement, the applicant must provide clear and 
irrefutable evidence that the windows are in such disrepair that they cannot be repaired”. 

4. “Primary façade window treatment authorizes the approval of work on windows under the following conditions 
in order of desirability on all elevations facing street frontages”: 

a. “Repair of existing windows” 
b. “Replace with like”: 

i. “Use of the same materials” 
ii. “Matching existing configuration.”  

iii. “Matching of color.” 
iv. “Matching of trim detailing.” 

5. “Non-primary elevation treatment allowances – The Historic District Commission desires these primary façade-
quality windows on all facades, but within residential districts, the Historic District Commission will accept 
replacement windows to a lower design standard than those on the primary façade in order of desirability for 
non-primary façades”. 

a. “Repair existing windows” 
b. “Replacement with like” 

i. “Use of same materials.” 
ii. “Matching existing configuration.” 

iii. “Matching of color.” 
iv. “Matching trim details.” 

c. “Replacement with modern materials with true divided lites (panes) and muntins that match the existing 
profiles”. 

d. “Replacement with new windows of modern materials and exterior divider grilles to match existing 
window profile”. 

e. “Standard replacement windows with either interior divider grilles or no divider grilles (least desirable – 
for non-primary facades only)”. 

 



6 

 

 
Exhibit F - Proposed new metal casement windows with grills 

 

ANALYSIS 

The proposed removal of existing vertical metal casement windows would be a significant alteration to the structure, but 

the addition of new casement metal windows would be consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s standards for 

rehabilitation.  Based on the information provided to staff, the applicant did provide window and garage door samples 

that mimic the original look of the building.    

The Pontiac Historic District Guidelines support the request to install new metal casement windows within the building 

based on the fact the new windows will use the same material, match the existing grill configuration, match the color, 

and match trim details.  

 

 



7 

 

 
               Exhibit G - Non-Primary Façade – west elevation (rear elevation).   View from Johnson Street. 

   

CONCLUSION   

Staff support the removal of the existing metal casement windows and installation of new metal casement windows with 

grills, and metal garage doors at the rear/ west of the property.    The work with this project will aid in the 

redevelopment of this site and improve the surrounding area while attempting to maintain the historic character and 

elements of the building.   

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the APPROVAL of the request to replace existing metal casement windows within the north, south, 

east, and west facades with new metal casement windows and grills and the new metal garage doors at the rear/ east of 

the property.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



8 

 

 

 

SAMPLE MOTION 

  SAMPLE MOTION TO APPROVE: 

I move to recommend APPROVAL of the removal of existing metal casement windows with new metal casement 
windows with grills and the addition of new metal garage doors to the rear of the structure.    
 

SAMPLE MOTION TO DENY: 

I move to DENY the removal of existing metal casement windows with new metal casement windows with grills and the 
addition of new metal garage doors to the rear of the structure for the following reason(s):  ______________ 
 

SAMPLE MOTION TO TABLE: 

I move to TABLE the removal of existing metal casement windows with new metal casement windows with grills and the 
addition of new metal garage doors to the rear of the structure for the following reason(s):  ______________ 
 

  

 

 

 

 

      
 



























 

 
 Application: HDC 23-055       225 Chippewa Road 

HDC MEETING DATE:  12-13-2023 

HISTORIC DISTRICT:  Seminole Hills 

PROPERTY OWNER:  Michael Wilhelm 

SCOPE: Remove cedar siding on the rear dormer install simulated vinyl siding and add new 

aluminum trim to the dormer   

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The applicant, Michael Wilhelm, requests the removal of wood shingles from the rear dormer area of the house, 

replacing them with vinyl faux cedar siding, and installing aluminum trim to the front rake edges/ facia.   

Per the Secretary of the Interior and Pontiac Historic District Commission guidelines, this request is not consistent with 

either body.  Therefore, staff recommends DENIAL of this request.  

OVERVIEW 

The applicant requests a certificate of appropriateness to remove existing wood shingles from the rear dormer (east 

elevation) of the dwelling replace the wood shingles with a simulated faux cedar shingle impression on vinyl material 

and install new aluminum trim to the dormer.  The new vinyl siding and trim will be painted “Musket Brown”.   

  

 
Exhibit A - Location Map 

 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

225 Chippewa Road was constructed in 1929. This period revival dwelling is characterized as, a 1-1/2 story brick 

structure with a cross gable roof, gable enclosed entry with an arched door, and half-timbered stucco and gable end at 

each side.   



2 

 

  

Exhibit B – front façade & rear façade with dormer 

STAFF OBSERVATIONS AND RESEARCH 

• The Seminole Hills Historic District was established in 1983. 

• The subject property is located at the southeast intersection of Chippewa Road and Manitou Road. 

• Deterioration of portions of the wood shingles is observable from the rear of the structure.   

• City records show in 2023 a permit approval was provided to re-shingle the roof with hunter-green GAF brand 
asphalt shingles.  

 

STANDARDS OF APPROVAL 

Secretary of the Interior Standards 

The Secretary of the Interior Standards for the treatment of Historic Properties provides 10 standards for rehabilitating 

historic properties. The relevant standard which applies to this request is #6.  

#6 - “Deteriorated historic features shall be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of deterioration requires 

the replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature shall match the old in design, color, texture, and other visual 

qualities and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features shall be substantiated by documentary, 

physical, or pictorial evidence”. 

City of Pontiac Historic District Commission guidelines 

The guidelines indicate if the original siding still exists or is under later alterations, it is the policy of the Commission to 

require the restoration of this material over all other options.  

 



3 

 

 

Exhibit C – sample of the vinyl faux siding 

ANALYSIS 

The Historic District Commission is required to review any plans and/or building elevations affecting the exterior 

appearance of a historic site or any proposed or existing structure located within a historic district as required in Section 

74.55 of the Pontiac City Code.  

This alteration request would fall under the Secretary of the Interior’s standards for rehabilitation. The proposed removal 

of existing wood shingle cladding establishment of vinyl-simulated shingle siding and installation of aluminum trim to the 

front rake/ facia edges is not consistent with the Secretary of the Interior’s standards.     

Based on the Secretary of the Interior’s standard #6  

“the historic features shall be repaired or replaced with materials that match the design, color, texture and other visual 

qualities for the feature being removed”. The applicant has indicated that the existing wood shingles are deteriorated and 

require replacement.  

Per Pontiac Historic District Commission siding replacement guidelines, the “installation of new vinyl or aluminum siding 

over original historic fabric (e.g., clapboard, cedar shakes, or other materials) is strictly prohibited.  Additionally, the 

guidelines indicate: 

For the Historic District Commission to approve new siding, the applicant must provide evidence that:  

1. The siding cannot be repaired. 
 



4 

 

 
 
2. The historic siding has already been removed from the structure and is not still underneath the newer 

material. 
 

SIDING TREATMENT REQUIREMENTS  

The Historic District Commission will authorize the approval of siding work under the following conditions, in order of 

desirability:  

 1) Repair/Uncovering of existing siding/shakes  

 2) Replacement of original historic materials with materials that match  

  a. Use of the same materials  

  b. Matching existing configuration – for example, clapboard on the first floor and cedar shakes on                               

                     second floor.  

 3) Replacement of original damaged materials or removal of vinyl or aluminum siding and replacement with    

      cement board products (like Hardie Board) that mimic the width and pattern of the original materials 

CONCLUSION 

Staff does not support removing the original wood cedar shack shingle material to be replaced by vinyl simulated siding 

(faux cedar shingles) or installing aluminum cladding to the dormer. Based on the Secretary of the Interior standards for 

rehabilitation and Pontiac Historic District Commission guidelines. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends DENIAL of the request to install vinyl simulated siding and aluminum cladding to rack/facia edge 

boards.  

The HDC may work with the applicant to consider alternatives to the applicant's request that align with the guidelines 

and regulations that the HDC follows. 

 

SAMPLE MOTIONS 

SAMPLE MOTION TO APPROVE: 

I move to recommend APPROVAL of the removal of existing cedar shingle siding at the rear dormer and installation of 
vinyl faux cedar shingles on the dormer with aluminum cladding to the trim.  
 

SAMPLE MOTION TO DENY: 

I move to DENY of the removal of existing cedar shingle siding at the rear dormer and installation of vinyl faux cedar 
shingles on the dormer with aluminum cladding to the trim and front rake edges and rear fascia for the following 
reason(s):  ______________ 
 

 



5 

 

 

SAMPLE MOTION TO TABLE: 

I move to TABLE the removal of existing cedar shingle siding at the rear dormer and installation of vinyl faux cedar 

shingles on the dormer with aluminum cladding to the trim and front rake edges and rear fascia.  for the following 

reason(s):  ______________ 

 



















1 

 

  

 
 

APPLICATION HDC: HDC 23-044      46 N. Saginaw Street 

HDC MEETING: 12/13/23 

APPLICANT:  Loren Guzek 

HISTORIC DISTRICT: Pontiac Commercial Historic District 

PROPERTY OWNER: 46 N SAG HCP, LLC      

SCOPE: Cutting windows along the south façade and alterations to the west façade 

UPDATE 

This request was scheduled for the October 8, 2023, meeting.  The applicant was unable to attend the meeting, 

therefore, the HDC tabled the item for the December meeting.   

PROPOSAL 

The applicant is proposing several upgrades to the façade of the structure.  The side of the structure that faces south 

and overlooks the adjacent alleyway will have 22 windows, 16 of which appear to be new.  Currently, there are no 

windows on the second or third floor south façade. The applicant is requesting eight (8) new windows on each of these 

floors.  The proposed windows vary in size but the majority appear to be 11’ by 12’. These windows will extend from the 

floor to close to the ceiling and will have welded and painted bar stock steel with glass guardrails. Each window will have 

a steel lintel. There are also significant changes proposed for the front façade facing Woodward.  

The applicant is proposing to keep the three historic pilasters and repair the cornice, but the rest is proposed to change.  

 

Figure 1: Location 



2 

 

Currently, there are eight windows on the second and third floor each, the applicant is proposing to replace these with 

four large windows that extend across the second and third floors.  The first-floor façade is proposed to be significantly 

reworked.  Rather than the existing brickwork which appears to date back only to the 1980s, the applicant is proposing 

metal fascia panels and new windows.  The proposed changes will significantly alter the appearance of the structure but 

will be closer aligned to its historic appearance than the 1980s renovations which have defined the appearance of the 

structure for the last 40 years.  Figure 2 highlights the changing appearance of the façade.  

 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

46 N Saginaw was constructed in 1920.  It is a three-story commercial structure with a classical influence style.  The front 

façade has three columns and cut stone which provide indications of what the original structure once looked like, 

however, there has been extensive work done on the building during its lifetime and very little of the existing façade is 

historic.  According to the 1983 Pontiac Commercial Historic District designation report this structure is listed as a 

“noncontributing” structure.  This means the historic features of the structure have been so distorted that very little 

remains worth preserving. At some point in the 1980s, the second and third floor of the front façade was completely 

covered in a reflective glass surface.  This glass surface was removed in 2020.  It is unclear when the first-floor façade 

was altered from it’s original appearance but it was most likely done in the early 1980s. The property fronts on Saginaw 

St. and the south façade overlooks an alleyway.   

STAFF OBSERVATIONS AND RESEARCH 

• The Pontiac Commercial Hills Historic District was established in 1983. 

• The subject property is located in a prominent location along N Saginaw just north of E Lawrence St.  

• Deterioration of the cut stone and brickwork is apparent from a site visit, the applicant’s proposed project will 
restore some of these historic features while other features will be removed.   

• City records show in 2019 a request was made to remove the glass panels and “Restore the façade to it’s original 
condition.”  The Historic District Commission approved this request. In 2021 the Historic District Commission 
approved a new glass door and “window repair only.” 

 

STANDARDS OF APPROVAL 

Per section 74-73 design review standards and guidelines of the City Code, the Commission shall follow the U.S. 

Secretary of the Interior standards for rehabilitation and guidelines for rehabilitation of historic buildings.  

The Secretary of the Interior Standards for the treatment of Historic Properties provides 10 standards for the 

rehabilitation for historic properties. The relevant standard which applies to this request is #9.  

Figure2 

2009 2021 Proposed 



3 

 

“New additions, exterior alterations, or related new construction shall not destroy historic materials that characterize the 

property.  The new work shall be differentiated from the old and shall be compatible with the massing, size, scale, and 

architectural features to protect the historic integrity of the property and its environment.” 

 

Figure 2: Rendering of Proposed Changes 

ANALYSIS 

This request for alteration would fall under the Secretary of the Interior’s standards for rehabilitation.   

The existing structure is a noncontributing resource with very little of its historic integrity remaining. The applicant is 

proposing to incorporate those surviving historic elements into the redesign of the structure while still adjusting its 

features to make the structure marketable as a multifamily residential structure. The cutting of several new windows 

along the south façade as well as the increase in window size along the front façade represent the most significant visual 

changes from the structure as it currently exists.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Per section 74-73 Design review standards and guidelines of City Code, the Commission shall follow the U.S. Secretary of 

the Interior standards for rehabilitation and guidelines for rehabilitation of historic buildings. 

Staff recommends APPROVAL without conditions of the requested alterations to the structure at 46 N Saginaw as 

presented by the applicant.  

 

MOTIONS 

 

I make the motion to APPROVE case HDC 23-44 to cut window openings into the wall along the south façade, add new 

windows along Saginaw, and alterations to the façade as presented.  



4 

 

I make a motion to DENY case HDC 23-044 to cut window openings into the wall along the south façade, add new 

windows along Saginaw, and alterations to the façade as presented because it does not comply with the following 

standards of approval _______________.   

 

I make the motion to TABLE case HDC 23-044 to cut window openings into the wall along the south façade, add new 

windows along Saginaw, and alterations to the façade as presented to give time for the applicant to provide the following 

additional information __________________. 

 






	HDC agenda December 13- 23
	HDC meeting min nov
	HDC min dec 2 oneida
	141 Chippewa Staff Report
	HDC application 141 chippewa
	111 Oneida HDC 23-048
	HDC app 111 onieda
	oneida rendering 1
	Oneida rendering 2
	proposed garage doors Oneida
	225 chippawa HDC report
	225 HDC Application
	46 N Saginaw Staff Report
	46 Saginaw Application

